STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith

Appellate Case No. 2022-000624

Solomon Yemame, Appellant,

vs.

The State of South Carolina, Respondent.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

S. Jahue Moore, SC Bar #4063
Lester M. Bell, Jr., SC Bar #100021
Moore Bradley Myers Law Firm, P.A.
1700 Sunset Boulevard (29169)
P.O. Box 5709
West Columbia, SC 29171
(803) 796-9160
Jake@mbmlawsc.com
Gill@mbmlawsc.com

Attorneys for Appellant

May 24, 2023

RECEIVED

MAY 26 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. THE APPELLANT WAS NOT AWARDED CREDIT FOR HIS TIME SERVED WHILE ON HOUSE ARREST**

- 2. THE APPELLANTS TIME SERVED ON HOUSE ARREST INCLUDING AN ELECTRONIC MONITORING DEVICE SHOULD BE CREDITED TOWARDS HIS TIME SERVED**

- 3. THE COURT WAS GROSSLY DISPROPORTIONATE IN THE APPELLANT'S SENTENCE**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Defendant has no prior criminal history prior to any of these charges. The Defendant pled guilty pursuant to a plea agreement of assault and battery in the first degree, a non-violent felony charge. (R. pp. 6-8). A charge that permits a sentence of zero to ten years. (R. pp. 13-16). The Defendant pled guilty of all counts on April 7, 2022. (R. p. 59). After considering the facts and arguments made on behalf of the Defendant, this Honorable Court imposed a sentence of eight years (8) years. (R. p. 26)

On April 18, 2022, Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider based on the length of the sentence and the mitigating facts presented by the Defendant, the Appellant respectfully requested this Court consider a lesser sentence. (R. pp. 32-37). Additionally, the Appellant hereby respectfully requested Court credit the time Appellant served on house arrest in his time served. (R. pp. 32-37). This motion was based upon the statutory and decisional law of the State of South Carolina. On April 27, 2022, the Appellant's Motion to Reconsider was denied and a final judgment entered by way of Written Order on April 27, 2022. (R. p. 1).

On May 6, 2022, Appellant served his notice of appeal. (R. p. 45). Pursuant to Rule 203(d)(1)(B)(iv), Appellant explained the basis of his appeal was his objection that the Court did not award Appellant credit for time served while on house arrest and house arrest on an electronic GPS monitoring device pursuant to S.C. Code 24-13-40. (R pp. 32-37). Additionally Appellant explained the basis of his appeal was his objection that the Court was disproportionate in the Appellant's sentence and therefore Appellant's sentence should be considered in proportion to the other criminals within the same jurisdiction and upon those committing the same crime in other jurisdictions. *See State v. Brannon, 341 S.C. 271, 533 S.E.2d 345 (Ct. App. 2000)*. (R pp. 32-37).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support. *In re M.B.H.*, 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010). In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Vick*, 384 S.C. 189, 197, 682 S.E.2d 275, 279 (Ct. App. 2009) (quoting *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)). The appellate court is “bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” *Id.* (quoting *Wilson*, 345 S.C. at 5-6, 545 S.E.2d at 829). The reviewing court “does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial court's ruling is supported by any evidence.” *State v. Slocumb*, 412 S.C. 88, 91, 770 S.E.2d 436, 438 (Ct. App. 2015).

The role of appellate courts in reviewing sentences is to determine: (1) whether the exercise of discretion by the sentencing court was based upon findings of fact grounded in competent, reasonably credible evidence; (2) whether the sentencing court applied the correct legal principles in exercising its discretion; and (3) whether the application of the facts to the law was such a clear error of judgment that it shocks the conscience. *State v. Brouwer*, 346 S.C. 375, 395, 550 S.E.2d 915 (Ct. App. 2001) (citing *State v. Megargel*, 143 N.J. 484, 673 A.2d 259 (1996)). There is a strong public policy against interference with a trial court's sentencing discretion. *Id.*, See *State v. Echols*, 175 Wis.2d 653, 499 N.W.2d 631 (1993). The trial court has broad discretionary powers in imposing a sentence because it is generally in a better position than the reviewing court to determine the appropriate sentence by weighing such factors as the defendant's credibility, demeanor, general moral character, mentality, social environment, habits, and age. *Id.* (citing *People v. Hernandez*, 319 Ill. App. 3d 520, 253 Ill. Dec. 550, 745 N.E.2d 673 (2001)).

Consequently, the reviewing court must not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court merely because it would have weighed these factors differently. *Id.* (citing *People v. Stacey*, 193 Ill.2d 203, 250 Ill. Dec. 4, 737 N.E.2d 626 (2000)).

ARGUMENTS

I. THE APPELLANT WAS NOT AWARDED CREDIT FOR HIS TIME SERVED WHILE ON HOUSE ARREST

The Appellant's time served on house arrest should be credited towards his time served on the Court sentence. Time spent under house arrest is used to compute time served by the prisoner. S.C. Code § 24-13-40. In every case in computing the time served by a prisoner, full credit against the sentence must be given for time served prior to trial and sentencing, and may be given for any time spent under monitored house arrest. *Id.* It is not unusual for pretrial supervision to be considered in reducing a sentence. *Id.* The Appellant pled guilty pursuant to a plea agreement for assault and battery in the first degree, a non-violent felony charge. (R. p. 59). Before pleading to the charge or being sentenced on April 7, 2022, the Appellant was placed on house arrest for the charge. (R. pp. 54-56). Therefore the Defendant's time spent under house arrest prior to the Court sentence should be computed into his sentence of the time served.

II. THE APPELLANTS TIME SERVED ON HOUSE ARREST INCLUDING AN ELECTRONIC MONITORING DEVICE SHOULD BE CREDITED TOWARDS HIS TIME SERVED

The Appellant's time served on house arrest including a GPS monitoring device should be credited towards his time served on the Court sentence. (R. p. 59). It is not unusual for pretrial supervision to be considered in reducing a sentence. S.C. Code § 24-13-40. In every case in computing the time served by a prisoner, full credit against the sentence....may be given for any time spent under monitored house arrest. *Id.* The Appellant was charged with assault and battery in the first degree, a non-violent felony charge as a condition of bond. (R. pp. 54-56). The

Appellant was placed on house arrest for the charge. (R. pp. 54-56). After being placed on house arrest, the Appellant was also placed under monitored house arrest with an electronic device. (R. pp. 54-56). After pleading guilty pursuant to the plea agreement, the Court then sentenced the Appellant to eight years based on Appellant's plea of the charge on assault and battery in the first degree, a non-violent felony charge. (R. p. 8). Therefore the Appellant's time spent under house arrest with an electronic monitoring device prior to the Court's sentence should be computed into his sentence of the time served.

III. THE COURT WAS GROSSLY DISPROPORTIONATE IN THE APPELLANT'S SENTENCE

The Court was grossly disproportionate in the Appellant's sentence and therefore Appellant's sentence should be considered in proportion to the other criminals within the same jurisdiction and upon those committing the same crime in other jurisdictions. In *State v. Brannon*, the Court held that "only if the Court determines that the sentence is grossly disproportionate to the offense need it consider sentences imposed on other criminals within the same jurisdiction and upon those committing the same crime in other jurisdictions." *State v. Brannon*, 341 S.C. 271, 533 S.E.2d 345 (Ct. App. 2000). The Appellant has no other criminal charges. The Appellant was charged with assault and battery in the first degree, a non-violent felony charge, which is a crime carrying the sentence of zero to ten years. The Appellant received a sentence of eight years, despite Appellant not having a criminal background.

Additionally the Court was grossly disproportionate in the Appellant's sentence because the sentence was not in proportion to other criminals within the jurisdiction and before the Court on the same day, April 7, 2022. (R. pp. 33-44). These three cases were *State v. Randolph*, *State v. Jones*, *State v. Wondell Williams*. (R. p. 33). In *State v. Randolph*, Randolph had no prior criminal history and was charged and pled guilty to assault and battery first degree for attempted murder

for the shooting of a victim to the head and fleeing the scene. (R. p. 33). The Court sentenced that Defendant to probation. (R. p. 33). In State v. Jones where Jones was charged with criminal sexual conduct but pled guilty to assault and battery second degree. (R. pp. 33-34). Jones was accused of molesting an 11 year old child but only sentenced to probation and not required to be listed on the sex offender registry. (R. pp. 33-34). In the third matter, State v. Wilson, the Defendant pled guilty to assault and battery first degree. (R. p. 34). The Court again sentenced Wilson to probation. (R. p. 34).

The Court's only comment upon sentencing was the opinion that locking the bedroom door was premeditation to commit assault. (R. p. 26). The Appellant disagrees. It is traditional and customary to lock a bedroom door during intimate activities. (R. p. 34). The Appellant did not jam or block the door to prevent entry. (R. p. 34). Appellant opened the door when it was knocked upon. (R. p. 10). Appellant does not believe locking of the door in this context justifies an eight year sentence especially in light of other sentences given by the Court.

Therefore, based on the disproportionality between the Appellant's sentence and the aforementioned cases, the Court should reconsider the Appellant's sentence as the Court was grossly disproportionate in the Appellant's sentencing and should consider Appellant's sentence in proportion to the other criminals within the jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing and all other information presented at Appellant's sentencing hearing, the Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse the Appellant's sentence and credit Appellant with the time served under house arrest in Appellant's time served.