RECEIVED

Apr 24 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County
Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2022-000624

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

SOLOMON TADESSE YEMAME,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BYRON E. GIPSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

To the extent Appellant’s appellate arguments concerning credit for the time he spent on unmonitored and monitored house arrest could be construed as an allegation of error, the plea judge did not abuse his broad sentencing discretion or otherwise err by declining to award such credit to Appellant because: (1) no credit could properly be awarded for any of the time Appellant served on unmonitored house arrest since such credit was not authorized by any provision of South Carolina law; and (2) it was entirely within the plea judge’s discretion as to whether to award any credit for the time Appellant served on monitored house arrest, and, thus, it was not an abuse of discretion for him to choose not to grant such credit when structuring Appellant’s sentence within the permissible sentencing limits.

Through his first two appellate issues, Appellant contends the time he spent on both unmonitored and monitored house arrest should be credited toward the sentence he received following his entry of a guilty plea. In support of that contention, Appellant does not—at least expressly—contend the plea judge abused his discretion or otherwise erred. Instead, Appellant simply notes credit *may* be given in South Carolina for time spent pre-trial on monitored house arrest, alleges it is “not unusual” for such credit to be awarded, and then follows that by making a conclusory assertion he personally should now be given credit for all the time he spent on house arrest—both monitored and unmonitored—without identifying any specific error committed in his case as far as time served credit is concerned.² To the extent Appellant’s expression of a self-serving desire to receive credit for time served on unmonitored and monitored house arrest

² Because Appellant’s appellate arguments related to credit for time served have been raised in a conclusory fashion and contain no actual allegation of error on the part of the plea judge, those arguments should be rejected as abandoned on appeal. See *State v. Jones*, 344 S.C. 48, 58, 543 S.E.2d 541, 546 (2001) (finding an argument to be abandoned where it raised in a conclusory manner); *Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691-692 (Ct. App. 2001) (holding an argument raised on appeal in a conclusory fashion without citation to authority was abandoned for appellate purposes and noting “South Carolina law clearly states that short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review”); see also *Thomasko v. Poole*, 349 S.C. 7, 17, 561 S.E.2d 597, 602 (2002) (“It is well established that an appellant seeking reversal of a decision by the trial court must show both error and prejudice.”).

could be construed as a claim of error, the plea judge did not abuse his broad sentencing discretion or otherwise err by declining to award such credit to Appellant because: (1) no credit could properly be awarded for any of the time Appellant served on non-monitored house arrest since such credit is not authorized by any provision of South Carolina law; and (2) it was entirely within the plea judge's discretion as to whether to award any credit for the time Appellant served on monitored house arrest, and, thus, it was not an abuse of discretion for him to choose not to grant such credit when structuring Appellant's sentence within the permissible sentencing limits. Accordingly, notwithstanding the fact Appellant's appellate claim related to credit for time served has not been framed as an actual assertion of error, there are no proper grounds upon which to disturb the plea judge's sentencing decisions concerning credit for time served on appeal. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

In South Carolina, entitlement to credit for "time served" toward a criminal sentence is controlled by statute. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40. Pursuant to the relevant statutory provision, prisoners are entitled to sentencing credit for time served pre-trial in limited circumstances. *Id.* Specifically, unless one of a few enunciated exceptions apply, prisoners *must* be given credit for time served in incarceration prior to trial and *may* be given credit for time spent "under monitored house arrest." *Id.*; see *Allen v. State*, 339 S.C. 393, 395, 529 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2000) (explaining a criminal defendant must be given credit for time served prior to trial "unless one of two exceptions exist: 1) either the prisoner was an escapee or 2) the prisoner was already serving a sentence on one offense"). Thus, sentencing judges in our state are—based on the plain language of the applicable statute—vested with complete discretion as to whether to award credit toward a sentence to an individual awaiting trial while on *monitored* house arrest. S.C. Code

Ann. § 24-13-40; see Franklin, 267 S.C. at 246, 226 S.E.2d at 898 (recognizing circuit court judges in South Carolina ordinarily have wide sentencing discretion).

In the case sub judice, Appellant—subsequent to his arrest and prior to his entry of a guilty plea—was released on bond under the condition he was required to remain on monitored house arrest, and he spent several months complying with that condition following his release from pre-trial incarceration. Following that, the terms of Appellant’s bond were modified less than five months later, and, at his express request, the electronic monitoring requirement was eliminated. Resultantly, before he entered his guilty plea, Appellant spent some time in pre-trial incarceration, a few months on monitored house arrest, and the remaining period of time on unmonitored house arrest.

Pursuant to South Carolina law, Appellant was entitled to credit for the time he spent in pre-trial incarceration, and, as reflected in his statements during the plea hearing and on Appellant’s sentencing sheet, the plea judge correctly awarded such credit to Appellant as statutorily required. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40; see State v. Boggs, 388 S.C. 314, 316, 696 S.E.2d 597, 598 (Ct. App. 2010) (explaining credit for time served in pre-trial incarceration is mandatory). Meanwhile, pursuant to South Carolina law, Appellant was not entitled to credit for the time he spent on unmonitored house arrest and was only entitled to credit for the time he spent on monitored house arrest *if* the plea judge decided in his discretion to award such credit. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40. Upon considering the circumstances of Appellant’s crime along with the other information presented to him, the plea judge decided to impose a term of incarceration that fell squarely within the permissible sentencing limits for the offense *and* below the maximum sentence that could have been imposed. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(C)(2) (mandating a person convicted of first-degree assault and battery “must be imprisoned for not

more than ten years”). However, in structuring Appellant’s sentence, the plea judge elected *not* to award non-mandatory credit for the time Appellant spent on monitored house arrest, which was a decision fully consistent with the discretion afforded to him by our state’s legislature. See S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (instructing time served credit “may be given for any time spent under monitored house arrest”).

Because Appellant’s sentence—including the credit for time served awarded and *not* awarded—fell squarely within the permissible sentencing limits for Appellant’s offense, the plea judge did not abuse his broad sentencing discretion by imposing Appellant’s statutorily-authorized sentence in the manner he did, including by electing not to award non-mandatory time served credit. See State v. Smith, 276 S.C. 494, 498, 280 S.E.2d 200, 202 (1981) (“[T]he authority to change a sentence rests solely and exclusively in the hands of the sentencing judge within the exercise of his discretion.”). Furthermore, because South Carolina law only allows discretionary credit for time spent on monitored house arrest, the plea judge obviously did not abuse his discretion or otherwise err by refusing to award credit he did not have any discretion to award for the time Appellant spent on unmonitored house.³ S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40. Under such circumstances, there are no valid grounds upon which the plea judge’s discretionary sentencing decisions in Appellant’s case could be disturbed on appeal. See State v. Dozier, 263 S.C. 267, 271, 210 S.E.2d 225, 226 (1974) (explaining a South Carolina appellate court “has no jurisdiction on appeal to correct a sentence alleged to be excessive when it is within the limits prescribed by statute”). Appellant’s conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

³ In fact, the plea judge would have committed an error of law if he did award credit for the time Appellant spent on unmonitored house arrest since no provision of South Carolina law allows for such credit to be awarded. Cf. State v. Taub, 336 S.C. 310, 318, 519 S.E.2d 797, 802 (Ct. App. 1999) (reversing Taub’s sentence and remanding for resentencing because his sentence fell below the mandatory minimum sentencing limits established for his offense).

II.

The plea judge did not abuse his broad sentencing discretion or commit any other error of law by sentencing Appellant, who sexually assaulted an incapacitated teenager incapable of providing consent, to an eight-year term of imprisonment after Appellant knowingly and voluntarily pled guilty to first-degree assault and battery because the sentence imposed fell within the permissible statutory sentencing limits for Appellant's offense and nothing appearing in the record established it was imposed as the result of any partiality, prejudice, corrupt motive, or improper considerations.

Through his third appellate issue, Appellant contends the plea judge reversibly erred by sentencing him to an eight-year term of imprisonment after he knowingly and voluntarily pled guilty to first-degree assault and battery, which—by Appellant's own acknowledgement—was an offense punishable by a term of imprisonment up to two years longer than the one actually imposed. As support for that claim, Appellant, who sexually assaulted an incapacitated teenager that—by Appellant's own admission—was too intoxicated to provide consent, alleges his sentence was “grossly disproportionate” to his offense because he had no prior criminal record and it purportedly was not in proportion to the sentences of other individuals sentenced on the same date as him. To the contrary, the plea judge did not commit any error whatsoever when sentencing Appellant because he imposed a sentence that fell within the permissible statutory sentencing limits for Appellant's crime after considering all the evidence and information presented to him, and nothing appearing in the record established the plea judge imposed Appellant's statutorily-authorized sentence as the result of any partiality, prejudice, corrupt motive, or improper considerations. Under such circumstances, there is no proper basis upon which Appellant's sentence can be disturbed on appeal. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

In South Carolina, sentencing judges are vested with broad discretion to impose a sentence falling within the statutory limits upon an offender convicted of a crime. Sidell, 262

S.C. at 398, 205 S.E.2d at 3. In exercising that broad sentencing authority, the sentencing judge must be accorded “very wide” discretion to determine the appropriate sentence and can properly consider “any and all information that reasonably might bear upon the proper sentence for the particular defendant, given the crime committed.” State v. Hicks, 377 S.C. 322, 325, 659 S.E.2d 499, 500 (Ct. App. 2008). Importantly, so long as the sentence imposed falls within the permissible sentencing limits for an offender’s crime, the sentencing judge’s decision regarding the appropriate sentence will not be found to be improper unless it violated the constitutional prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment or resulted from partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive. See Garrett v. State, 320 S.C. 353, 356, 465 S.E.2d 349, 350 (1995) (“A sentence is not excessive if it is within statutory limitations and there are no facts supporting an allegation of prejudice against respondent.”); Wood v. State, 257 S.C. 179, 182, 184 S.E.2d 702, 703 (1971) (“It is well settled in this State that this Court has no jurisdiction to disturb, because of alleged excessiveness, a sentence which is within the limits prescribed by statute unless: (a) the statute itself violates the constitutional injunction . . . against cruel and unusual punishment, or (b) the sentence is the result of partiality, prejudice or pressure or corrupt motive.”).

In the case at bar, Appellant—after locking the bedroom door—engaged in non-consensual sexual intercourse with an intoxicated teenager who had passed out after a heavy night of drinking and was in no condition to provide consent even if she had conceivably wished to do so. As a consequence of those disturbing and indefensible actions, Appellant was indicted for third-degree criminal sexual conduct and ultimately pled guilty to first-degree assault and battery. Resultantly, Appellant was facing—as he personally acknowledged during the plea hearing—a term of imprisonment of up to ten years. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(C)(2) (“A

person who violates this subsection [defining first-degree assault and battery] is guilty of a felony, and, upon conviction, must be imprisoned for not more than ten years.”); see also Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 165, 485 S.E.2d 367, 371 (1997) (“Wishful thinking regarding sentencing does not equal a misapprehension concerning the possible range of sentences, especially where one acknowledges on the record that one knows the range of sentences and that no promises have been made.”).

Upon considering all the information presented to him concerning both Appellant and Appellant’s crime, the plea judge elected to impose an eight-year sentence, which—favorably for Appellant—was a sentence two years short of the maximum one that could have permissibly been imposed. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(C)(2). Thus, the sentence imposed by the plea judge fell squarely within the applicable sentencing limits for Appellant’s offense, and nothing was presented suggesting the sentence was imposed as the result of any partiality, prejudice, or corrupt motive on the part of the plea judge. Id.; cf. Garrett, 320 S.C. at 356, 465 S.E.2d at 350 (reinstating a sentence originally imposed by a plea judge because “it was within the limits permitted by law” and Garrett did “not assert either a constitutional violation or that the sentencing judge acted with partiality, prejudice or pressure”). Under such circumstances, the plea judge did not abuse his broad discretion or otherwise err when sentencing Appellant, and there is simply no proper basis upon which the plea judge’s discretionary sentencing decision could be disturbed on appeal. See State v. Bass, 242 S.C. 193, 197, 130 S.E.2d 481, 483-484 (1963) (“This Court has no jurisdiction to correct a sentence alleged to be excessive when it is within the limits prescribed by law.”).

In arguing to the contrary, Appellant maintains the sentence imposed by the plea judge was “grossly disproportionate” to his offense based on his lack of a prior criminal record coupled

with the fact shorter sentences were imposed on other unrelated offenders around the same time he was sentenced. Importantly though, the plea judge—and not Appellant himself—was the one tasked with evaluating the information presented and selecting an appropriate sentence under the circumstances involved, and the plea judge did just that with a full awareness of Appellant’s lack of a prior criminal record, which was *not* a fact that unyielding restricted the plea judge’s sentencing authority in any way. See State v. Miller, 187 S.C. 271, ___, 197 S.E. 310, 311 (1938) (“Where left to his discretion by the law, the presiding judge, in the exercise of a wise judgment, determines what sentence, within the law, would be just and proper in any particular case.”); State v. Crosby, 160 S.C. 301, ___, 158 S.E. 685, 687 (1931) (explaining an appellate court “has no power to reduce the sentence or to reverse the judgment” based on a claim the trial judge should have imposed a lighter sentence because the term of the sentence imposed falls within the authority and discretion of the trial judge); cf. United States v. Dunn, 728 F.3d 1151, 1159 (9th Cir. 2013) (“While reasonable jurists might disagree as to whether Dunn’s positive factors warranted a reduced sentence, mere disagreement does not amount to an abuse of discretion.”); United States v. Fisher, 478 F. App’x 836, 838 (5th Cir. 2012) (“Fisher’s disagreement with the district court’s assessment of an appropriate sentence does not establish abuse of discretion.”). Meanwhile, notwithstanding the fact the solicitor explained why the unrelated cases Appellant identified for comparative purposes were not truly similar to Appellant’s, a sentencing judge is *not* precluded from imposing a sentence for one defendant convicted of a certain offense that is higher than the sentence imposed on another defendant convicted of the same offense so long as the decision to do so is not arbitrary or unreasonable, and that is true even in a case involving actual co-defendants and accomplices.⁴ See State v. Follin, 352 S.C. 235, 257, 573 S.E.2d 812,

⁴ Moreover, unless a sentence imposed is *grossly* disproportionate to the offense committed, it is

824 (Ct. App. 2002) (“[W]hen the record clearly reflects an appropriate basis for a disparate sentence, the sentencing judge may impose a different sentence on a co-defendant in a criminal trial.”); see also State v. Fleming, 228 S.C. 129, 133-134, 89 S.E.2d 104, 106 (1955) (rejecting the appellants challenge to their sentences despite the fact those sentences were over eight years longer than the sentence an accomplice received). Therefore, the fact other unrelated offenders may have received sentences different from Appellant’s in no way established the plea judge, who imposed a sentence falling squarely within the permissible sentencing limits for Appellant’s crime, erred when deciding upon the appropriate sentence under the particular facts and circumstances of Appellant’s case. See State v. Brewington, 267 S.C. 97, 103, 226 S.E.2d 249, 251 (1976) (explaining the sentences imposed upon others for similar offenses “may”—but *not* must—properly be considered in determining an appropriate sentence for an offender); see also United States v. Rauhoff, 525 F.2d 1170, 1178-1179 (7th Cir. 1975) (“As a general rule, so long as a sentence is within the statutory maximum, the court will not exercise its supervisory powers to inquire into the propriety of a sentence, even when that sentence creates a disparity with the sentences of *co-defendants*.” (emphasis added)); State v. Garris, 144 S.E.2d 901, 902 (N.C. 1965) (“There is no requirement of law that defendants charged with similar offenses be given the same punishment. The punishment imposed in a particular case, if within statutory limits, is

unnecessary for purposes of a proportionality analysis to compare that sentence to the sentences imposed on other offenders convicted of similar crimes. See State v. Harrison, 402 S.C. 288, 299-300, 741 S.E.2d 727, 733 (2013) (“[I]n analyzing proportionality under the Eight[h] Amendment outside the capital context, South Carolina courts shall first determine whether a comparison between the sentence and the crime committed gives rise to an inference of gross disproportionality. If no such inference is present, the analysis ends. In the *rare* instance that this threshold comparison gives rise to such an inference, intrajurisdictional and interjurisdictional analysis is appropriate. Courts may then look to whether more serious crimes carry the same penalty, or more serious penalties, and the sentences imposed for commission of the same crime in other jurisdictions. Courts should use this comparative analysis to confirm the gross disproportionality inference, and not to develop an inference when one did not initially exist.” (emphasis added)).

within the sound discretion of the presiding judge.”); cf. Dozier, 263 S.C. at 271-272, 210 S.E.2d at 226 (finding no abuse of discretion in the trial judge’s issuance of a greater sentence to Dozier than to his co-defendants for the same offenses where the trial judge concluded Dozier’s co-defendants “were not tainted with the same degree of guilt” as Dozier).

Accordingly, since Appellant’s sentence fell within the appropriate statutory sentencing limits for his troubling offense and nothing suggested that sentence was imposed based on partiality, prejudice, oppression, corrupt motive, or any other improper considerations, the plea judge did not abuse his broad sentencing discretion or commit any other error of law when imposing a legislatively-sanctioned eight-year sentence for Appellant’s crime, and there is no proper basis upon which to disturb Appellant’s sentence on appeal. See State v. Sanders, 251 S.C. 431, 444, 163 S.E.2d 220, 228 (1968) (instructing the “established rule” in South Carolina is an appellate court will not reverse a sentence for being “excessive” if it falls within the statutory sentencing limits and was not imposed as the result of partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive); cf. Clark v. State, 259 S.C. 378, 382-383, 192 S.E.2d 209, 210-211 (1972) (“Appellant seeks to have his sentence set aside and be resentenced to a lesser term. His contentions in this respect require little comment. It has long been settled that this Court has no jurisdiction on appeal to correct an allegedly excessive sentence, which is within the limits prescribed by law for the discretion of the trial judge and which is not proved to be the result of partiality, prejudice, oppression or corrupt motive. We deem it unnecessary to cite or refer to the many authorities for this well settled proposition. The record here contains no suggestion, let alone evidence, of any partiality, prejudice, oppression or corrupt motive influencing or affecting the sentence.”). Appellant’s conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted the judgment, conviction, and sentence of the lower court be affirmed.